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Chairman’s Statement

Summary 
This is the first published Annual Report and Accounts 
for ATOME. It was only on 30 December 2021 that 
ATOME became the first green hydrogen and 
ammonia production company to join the London 
Stock Exchange and today ATOME remains the only 
company in such field on the market.  

The Company was formed under the umbrella of 
President Energy PLC and as part of the IPO process 
was spun out from President to be an independent 
company having been incorporated as a public 
company in October 2021. The results for the year end 
2021 are therefore somewhat of an anomaly especially 
as a full Admission Document on Admission to AIM 
(available on our website) was published in late 
December 2021, only shortly before the year end 
under report. 

Since Admission at the end of 2021, the Company has 
made material and expeditious progress and has 
expanded its business and footprint above and 
beyond originally planned. This progress is reflected in 
the statement of Olivier Mussat, our Chief Executive, 
contained later in the Annual Report. In the short 
period since the IPO, whilst not losing focus on our 
core projects, we have signed a world-class scale 
power purchase agreement for 60 MW in Paraguay as 
well as creating our Mobility Division and ordered our 
first electrolyser.  All this means in 2023 we expect to 
be generating our first revenues ahead of expectation 
at the time of the IPO and are advancing our 
production plans generally. 

With these projects, as well as our original core 
Paraguay and Iceland projects as referred to in the 
Admission Document, both of which are progressing 
as planned, we have within those few short months, 
placed ourselves at the forefront in our field both in 
scale and with proven ability to move fast and exploit 
opportunities as they arise. We are building projects 
which will produce globally traded green commodities 
whilst increasing food and energy security locally. We 
have every confidence that ATOME will go from 
strength to strength and in the years to come can 
become one of the world leaders in production of 
green hydrogen and ammonia delivering capital 
appreciation to our shareholders and sustainable 
development. 

Financial  
The financial statements presented are the inaugural 
group results for the ATOME Energy Group following 
its emergence in 2021 as an independent AIM listed 
business focused on producing, marketing and 
distributing green hydrogen and ammonia.  

ATOME Energy PLC is the public company formed in 
October 2021 to bring the green energy business 
established by AIM traded President Energy to the 
market as an independent entity. ATOME Energy 
became the parent entity under a capital 
reorganisation with the principal operating entity, 
ATOME Limited, in early December 2021 while under 
common control. Following established practice, the 
financial results reflect the merged results for the 
Group from the start of the financial year as if the 
Group had been operating throughout this period.  

The loss for the period of US$2.2 million includes 
US$0.7 million of listing related expenses and 
US$1.2 million of expenditure under agreements with 
founding shareholders, the majority of which were 
incurred prior to the transfer of ownership from 
President Energy PLC and represent a full year’s 
charge based on merger accounting. As detailed in the 
Admission Document, the support of founding 
shareholders created, incubated, financed and 
progressed the business to the point of the IPO and 
included the acquisition of operating entities in both 
Iceland and Paraguay.  

Climate Change 
ATOME, acknowledges and takes due regard to the 
increasing emphasis on climate change around the 
World. The Company aims to build a platform for a 
cleaner, more sustainable future for our planet in 
recognition of the climate change imperative driving 
nations and industries around the world to “green” 
their infrastructure, operations, and products. 

Peter Levine 
Executive Chairman 
26 May 2022 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement 

Since its foundation and subsequent emergence as an 
independent AIM listed business ATOME has made 
significant operational progress and is already 
establishing itself as a leading international player in 
the field of green hydrogen and ammonia.  

We came to the market through our IPO in 
December 2021 having become a public company two 
months earlier. At the time of Admission to AIM we 
had our two core projects in Paraguay and Iceland, 
both substantive in nature and providing significant 
opportunity for fundamental increase in shareholder 
value extending into the future. Hindsight, together 
with subsequent events, has fortuitously shown 
ATOME to be the right company at the right time for 
the green energy market. 

I am pleased to report that since that time, ATOME 
through its new mobility division and Villeta PPA has 
also exceeded the original expectations at the time of 
the IPO both in scale and timing of our business. 

In February of this year, we created our new mobility 
division set to revolutionise green energy for transport 
in Paraguay. Hydrogen is the worldwide future for 
heavy road transport e.g. buses and trucks. With 
ATOME’s first order for an electrolyser made in 
March, and our owner’s engineer appointed, ATOME 
expects to sell and deliver its first hydrogen for 
transport use in Paraguay before the end of H1 next 
year with already extensive end-market interest in our 
mobility project together with government support. 

At the start of this month, being able to quickly exploit 
a new opportunity, ATOME entered into a 60MW 
power purchase agreement (“PPA”) for delivery of 
significant green power for hydrogen and ammonia 
production in Viletta in Paraguay. The scale and fast 
track speed of this project places ATOME at the 
forefront in our field and has generated significant 
industry and market interest. The green power is 
available now, close to our end market with 
infrastructure in place which enables us to move 
expeditiously towards developing this project and 
revenue creation. 

The Villeta PPA is in addition to the core 250-300 MW 
project in Paraguay, which we announced at the time 
of Admission, which is also in the process of planning, 
and we are already hard at work to bring the Villeta 
project on-stream within the next three years, thereby 
having world-scale projects of in excess of 300 MW 
coming on-line mid-decade from Paraguay alone. Our 
Iceland project is also progressing in tandem with our 
work in Paraguay and is also now planned come on-
line mid-decade. 

We believe ATOME is ideally placed to help 
decarbonise energy, transport and agriculture. Our 
projects will contribute significantly to fulfilling the 
UN’s Sustainable Development Goals, particularly  

SDG 7, 9, 11, 12 and 13. The increase in hydrocarbon 
and fertiliser prices, together with the international 
emphasis on environmentally necessary green 
commodities, has provided a very fertile end market 
for ATOME’s planned production and we have ever 
increasing confidence backed by industry interest in 
us that there will be robust demand for our 
production which will support strong economics for 
our business, with profitability and sustainability 
going hand in hand.  

We look forward to delivering further material 
progress during 2022 as we move forward with 
bringing our projects on-line and intend to proceed to 
develop a pipeline of new international projects in 
other jurisdictions as time goes on. 

Olivier Mussat 
Chief Executive Officer 
26 May 2022 
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Principal Activities, Risk and Uncertainties 
The Group conducts an international business whose 
principal activities are for the purpose of producing, 
marketing and distributing green hydrogen and 
ammonia. A comprehensive review of the 
development of the business of the Group is 
contained in the Chairman’s Statement on page 02. 
Details of the statement by the Directors in 
performance of their statutory duties in accordance 
with s172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 is included 
in the Corporate Governance Statement on page 15. 

Financial Review 
The financial statements presented are the inaugural 
group results for the ATOME Energy Group following 
its emergence in 2021 as an independent AIM listed 
business focused on producing, marketing and 
distributing green hydrogen and ammonia.  

Whilst ATOME Energy PLC was only formed in 
October 2021, to bring the green energy business 
established by President Energy PLC to the market as 
an independent entity, the financial results have been 
prepared adopting merger accounting for the Group 
from the beginning of January 2021 as if it had been 
operating throughout this period. This follows 
established practice and is consistent with the 
Admission Document in December 2021.  

The results therefore reflect a full year including the 
period when under control of President Energy PLC 
and show a loss US$2.2 million. In line with the 
Admission Document, this includes listing expenses 
of US$0.7 million of listing related expenses and 
US$1.2 million of expenditure under agreements with 
founding shareholders including President Energy. 
Without the founding shareholders’ support during 
the incubation period, ATOME could not have 
achieved the significant progress before and after the 
IPO as reported in the Chief Executive Officer’s 
statement and subsequent events outlined in the 
Directors’ Report.  

The Group has assumed liabilities in the form of GBP 
sterling loans from President Energy and FIIP for the 
funding support provided. These obligations are 
presented as borrowings under current liabilities and 
have been fully settled in 2022 from the funds raised 
at the end of the year. On 30th December 2021, the 
Group raised proceeds of US$7.8 million gross 
(US$7.0 million net) from the issue of new shares on 
flotation and admission to AIM. With the late timing 
of the event, US$1.8 million was received in the year 
with US$6.1 million presented as a receivable in 
current assets for settlement in due course. Trade and 

other payables of US$1.2 million include US$0.9 
million of amounts due in settlement of the costs of 
the share issue. Additional financial support is 
available to the Group in the form of a Standby 
Equity Facility Agreement. Under this agreement, 
PLLG Investments Limited and Peter Levine, 
Non-Executive Chairman have agreed to subscribe 
for shares at the placing price at the option of the 
Company for 18 months from the AIM admission in 
December 2021. This makes an additional £3.0 
million facility available to the Group. 

In consolidating the results of the Group, we have 
elected to present them in US Dollars as all the 
Group’s budgeting, cost management and future 
trading are in US Dollars. On translation from the 
functional currency of the entities all translation 
differences are taken to the Foreign Currency 
Translation Reserve on the statement of financial 
position.  

Key Performance Indicators 
Key Performance Indicators are used to measure the 
extent to which Directors and management are 
reaching key objectives. With the flotation of ATOME 
late in 2021, the key milestones are establishing 
commercial agreements to progress the business 
towards the investment decision point and managing 
cash resources. The principal methods by which the 
Directors monitor the Group’s performance will 
evolve as the business grows. 

Risks relating to the Group and its 
business strategy 
The Group has no operating track record and no 
historical revenues, and there is no basis on which to 
evaluate the Group’s ability to implement its business 
objective of progressing with the Projects to 
completion. 

The Group has no operating history prior to 
commencing the Projects, and no current revenues or 
results of operations, meaning that there is no basis 
on which to evaluate the Group’s performance or its 
ability to implement its business objective of 
successfully completing the Projects. The Group will 
not generate any revenues from operations, if any, 
unless and until at least the first phase of the Projects 
have completed, and there can be no guarantee that 
the Projects will be completed. 

Whilst every effort is being made to cover the risks 
associated with the implementation of the Projects, 
there can be no guarantee that there will not be some 
unforeseen matter which has a material effect on 
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their implementation, including whether full 
industrial production of hydrogen and ammonia will 
ever commence or the Group or its business can be 
profitable, which may have a material adverse effect 
on the Group’s business, financial condition or results 
of operations. 

An agreed source of green electricity supply is 
fundamental 
The supply of green renewable sourced electrical 
energy is fundamental to the implementation of the 
Group’s business plan, without which the Projects 
cannot be progressed. Whilst there is existing 
available green renewable electrical energy in both 
Iceland and Paraguay where the Group operates, 
there is a risk that the Group is unable to finalise the 
terms of a power production agreement with the 
relevant electrical suppliers on a basis necessary to 
have a viable business or, even if such agreements are 
concluded, that such supply may be impacted by 
external force majeure factors, or that the commercial 
terms crucial to the economic delivery of the Group’s 
products may change or that the supply and 
availability of power is delayed or the amount of 
power required by the Projects may change and 
which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and / or prospects. 

Furthermore, to the extent that the Group enters into 
power purchase agreements to fix the price that it 
pays for the electricity used or enters into derivatives 
with a view to hedging against fluctuations in prices 
(such as contracts for difference (“CFDs”)), the Group 
may be exposed to risk related to requiring an 
amount of electricity over a specific period. If there 
are periods of non-production the Group may need 
to pay the difference between the price it has 
purchased the power at and the market price at that 
time which could have a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s profitability and / or the price of the 
Ordinary Shares. 

While the Group has entered into discussions on the 
provision of potential renewable electricity supplies, 
including non-binding MoUs, there is no guarantee 
that legally binding power purchase agreements will 
be eventually executed, and should these not be 
forthcoming then the basis of the Group’s strategy 
could be undermined which would have a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s profitability and / or the 
price of the Ordinary Shares. This has been somewhat 
mitigated in Paraguay by the signing of a long-term 
power purchase agreement in May 2022. 

There can be no assurance that the green 
hydrogen and ammonia sector will develop 
The market for green hydrogen and ammonia is 
developing rapidly and with this comes uncertainty 
as to the extent of markets being able to take or 
appropriately pay for the Group’s production. This 
together with increasing competition may impact on 
the Group’s ability to sell its products in its regions of 
geographical focus for export or at all. Whilst 
Governments and corporations globally are 
identifying green hydrogen as a key driver in 
delivering the energy transition to a low carbon 
economy, delivering this pathway will require 
significant and sustained investment and policy 
support for green hydrogen and strong growth in the 
supply chains behind it. In the event that the 
significant and sustained investment and policy 
support is not forthcoming in the medium to long 
term and/or there is not the expected adoption of 
hydrogen end- uses, there could be an adverse effect 
on the financial prospects of the Projects, with a 
consequential adverse effect on the performance of 
the Group, the Group’s earnings and returns to 
Shareholders. 

There can be no assurance that green hydrogen 
and ammonia costs of production will be less than 
fossil-fuel derived hydrogen 
Except in the case of coal-derived hydrogen, fossil-
fuel derived hydrogen costs are largely influenced by 
natural gas costs. The relative cost competitiveness of 
green hydrogen will critically depend therefore on 
prevailing gas prices. While following recent volatility 
in natural gas prices, the current production costs of 
green hydrogen have fallen temporarily below the 
cost of natural gas-derived hydrogen for the first 
time, there is no assurance on any future levels of gas 
prices and whether, including any applicable 
government carbon taxes and the costs of carbon use 
capture and storage, this will result in the production 
costs of natural gas-derived hydrogen exceeding 
green hydrogen production costs. In such 
circumstances, the Group’s products may not be 
competitive, and which could have a material adverse 
impact on the performance of the Group, the Group’s 
earnings and returns to shareholders. 

The future market price of ammonia is uncertain 
The successful development of a green hydrogen 
project is dependent on the terms of any offtake 
agreement, which will reflect the prevailing market 
price of hydrogen and ammonia. The Group’s 
economic assessment of its Projects has been based 
on a base price (in real terms) of ammonia of US$500 
per metric ton (MT). The ammonia price is 
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determined by a number of factors beyond the 
Group’s control, including market demand and the 
costs of production of competing products such as 
fossil-fuel based ammonia. There can therefore be no 
assurance on future levels of ammonia and green 
ammonia prices, and whether the Group’s Projects 
would be economic. In the event that the green 
ammonia price falls below the costs of production, 
there may be a material adverse impact on the 
performance of the Company, the Company’s 
earnings and returns to shareholders. 

Although the Company believes the current 
economic environment has created significant 
opportunities in the sphere of production of 
hydrogen and ammonia, there may be 
competition for certain of these opportunities 
There may be worldwide competition from others 
interested in the production of green hydrogen in the 
counties in which the Projects are based. Such 
competition may for example come from strategic 
players and public and private investments funds. 
Although the Company believes that it is well placed 
to prosper notwithstanding such potential 
competition, there is no guarantee that the Company 
will be successful against such competition. 

The Company may not be able to obtain financing 
on terms acceptable to the Company 
The Company will need to raise additional funding, 
either equity or debt financing, in order to fully 
finance the development and construction of the 
Projects and there can be no guarantee that the 
Company will be able to obtain the funding required 
or do so on terms that are acceptable to the Company 
at the time required. If the Company is unable to fully 
finance the development and construction of the 
Projects, the Projects may need to be cancelled or 
significantly restructured, either of which may have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
financial condition, or results of operations. The 
failure to obtain such financing or to secure it on 
acceptable terms would have a material adverse effect 
on the Company and its Projects, and therefore on 
the Company’s business, financial condition, results 
of operations and / or prospects. 

Dependence on key executives and personnel 
The future performance of the Company will depend 
heavily on its ability to recruit and retain the services 
of key executives and to recruit, motivate and retain 
further suitably skilled, qualified, and experienced 
personnel. The Company will look to recruit 
personnel with existing expertise assist in the running 
and operations of the Projects and to support the 

Company in its operations. However, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to recruit 
personnel of the right expertise and calibre. Changes 
in personnel may have a material adverse effect on 
the Projects or the Company’s business operations. 
The Company is also dependent on the Directors to 
manage the Projects. Although the Directors have 
entered into letters of appointment with the 
Company, the loss of the services of any such 
individual may have an adverse material effect on the 
business, operations, revenues, customer 
relationships and/or prospects of the Company. 

Foreign Exchange or currency risks 
The Company will carry on its business outside the 
UK in countries where it will be exposed to foreign 
exchange or currency risks or regulations relating to 
transfer of monies or distribution 

The Covid-19 Pandemic may have a negative 
impact on the ability of the Company to progress 
with the Projects and may increase costs of 
operations and capital expenditure and incur 
delays. 
The World Health Organisation designated Covid-19 
a Public Health Emergency of International Concern 
on 30 January 2020. Following this designation, and 
in response to the significant transmission risks 
posed by Covid-19, governments in Paraguay and 
Iceland, the countries where the Projects are located 
as well as other major economies, effected significant 
restrictions on the movement of people and the 
activities they can carry out, a number of which 
continue to apply, or having been lifted, are now 
being re-imposed. The progression of the Projects 
may take longer, be more complex or more expensive 
to implement given the continuing Covid-19 
restrictions. Such a delay may increase complexity or 
cost which could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or prospects. 

Risks relating to the projects 
There can be no guarantee that the completion of 
the Projects will take place or that they will be 
successful 
The Group’s business strategy and business model 
depend on the successful completion of the Projects 
and on the effective and successful running of the 
Projects once completed. There can be no guarantee 
that appropriate power purchase agreements will be 
entered into in respect of each of the Projects on 
satisfactory terms or at all, or that the necessary 
equipment for production of hydrogen and ammonia 
can be procured on satisfactory terms. Furthermore, 
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there is no guarantee that final agreements in relation 
to securing land with adequate nearby water supply 
suitable for each of the Projects and available 
transmission lines for power can be completed on 
satisfactory terms or at all. 

The initial phases of the Projects might not be 
successfully completed, and accordingly the Projects 
might be unable to progress to full industrial 
production phases of hydrogen and ammonia. As a 
result, the Group might not be profitable or be able to 
complete the Projects at a price that is consistent with 
its objectives or at all, which would have a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial 
condition, or results of operations. If the Group fails 
to complete the Projects, it may be left with 
substantial unrecovered costs and which would have 
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and / or the 
price of the Ordinary Shares. 

Exposure to hydrogen and ammonia prices and 
risk to hedging prices 
The financial viability of the Projects is dependent on 
hydrogen and ammonia prices. The market price of 
hydrogen and ammonia is affected by a variety of 
factors, including market demand, government 
support for various forms of hydrogen generation and 
fluctuations in the market prices of commodities and 
foreign exchange. 

Risks relating to the durability and technical 
design of hydrogen plants and hydrogen facilities 
Hydrogen generation and transmission plants and 
hydrogen facilities are technically complex, and some 
of the relevant technologies are relatively new. In 
some cases, there are few comparable systems 
worldwide that can be used to forecast the durability 
of the hydrogen plants. Therefore, there is a risk that 
the hydrogen plants cannot be used over the entire 
forecast period for their intended use and / or fail to 
achieve or maintain the predicted efficiency. 
Additional costs may be incurred for maintenance, 
renewal or replacement of the hydrogen plants or 
their system components. In particular, there is a risk 
of damage or even destruction of the plants due to 
extreme weather events and geological risks. 

Technology advancement and obsolescence risks 
A change could occur in the way a service or product 
is delivered making the technology selected by the 
Projects obsolete or non-commercial. The significant 
fixed costs involved in constructing the plant means 
that any technology change that occurs over the 
medium term could threaten the profitability of the 

Group, in particular due to the financing projections 
that are dependent on an extended project life. In 
such circumstances the Projects would have to fund 
replacement plant, with a possible interruption of 
production, which could have a material adverse 
effect on the Group’s profitability and the price of the 
Ordinary Shares. 

Risks relating to the price of equipment 
The price of equipment in relation to the Projects can 
increase or decrease. The price of equipment can be 
influenced by a number of factors, including the price 
and availability of raw materials, demand for the 
relevant equipment and any import duties that may 
be imposed on that equipment. Unexpected increases 
in the cost of equipment could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s ability to meet its 
investment criteria and on the Group’s profitability 
and the price of the Ordinary Shares. 

Construction risks 
The Projects will require significant capital 
expenditure and pre-production operational funding, 
the quantum of which will may be greater than 
planned due to cost overruns, construction delay, 
failure to meet technical requirements or construction 
defects which may be outside the Group’s control. If a 
third party is liable to repair or remedy any 
construction defect, that third party may not carry out 
such repair or remedy by the agreed deadline or at all 
and / or the relevant defects may not be adequately 
covered by warranty. Even if such defects are covered 
by warranty, they may only occur after the warranty 
period expires, or the relevant damages may exceed 
the scope of the warranty and therefore not be 
capable of full recovery. As a result, it may not be 
possible to recoup all damages and / or losses 
incurred as a result of construction related risks 
coming to fruition. Additional costs and expenses, 
delays in construction or carrying out repairs, failure 
to meet technical requirements, lack of warranty 
cover and/or consequential operational failures or 
malfunctions may have a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s profitability and the price of the Ordinary 
Shares. 

Further details on project risks in Paraguay and 
Iceland are detailed in the Admission Document 
available on our website. 

Environmental risks 
Environmental laws and regulations in the 
jurisdiction in which the Projects are located may 
have an impact on the Group’s activities. It is also not 
possible to predict accurately the effects of future 
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changes in such laws or regulations on a Project’s 
performance. There can be no assurance that 
environmental costs and liabilities will not be 
incurred in the future. In addition, environmental 
regulators may seek to impose injunctions or other 
sanctions on a Project’s operations that may have a 
material adverse effect on its financial condition. To 
the extent that environmental liabilities arise in 
relation to any sites owned or used by the Group may 
be required to contribute financially towards any such 
liabilities, and the level of such contribution may not 
be restricted by the value of the Projects. If any such 
financial contributions are required these may have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s profitability 
and the price of the Ordinary Shares. 

Requirement for regulatory approvals, permits, 
licences and government support 
The construction and operation of hydrogen and 
ammonia production, storage and distribution plants, 
facilities and/or infrastructure will require regulatory 
approvals, permits and licences to operate, and in 
some circumstances government financial support. 
Even with careful planning and verification, it is 
possible that not all necessary permits or licences for 
the construction and operation of each hydrogen and 
ammonia plant, facility and/or infrastructures in each 
relevant jurisdiction will be obtained. Each Project is 
also subject to the risk that a particular permit or 
licence is altered, withdrawn or expires and cannot be 
extended, which can lead to suspension, delay, or 
restriction in operations. In addition, relevant 
authorities may impose conditions on the 
commencement or duration of the operation of the 
hydrogen and ammonia plants, facilities and/or 
infrastructure. This may delay or restrict the operation 
of the plants, facilities and/or infrastructure and/or 
increase the costs of operation. Furthermore, 
governments over time may change their level of 
financial support for hydrogen and ammonia plants, 
facilities, offtake, and/or infrastructure. As a result, 
these may have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s profitability and the price of the Ordinary 
Shares. 

Changes in regulation of the hydrogen and 
ammonia sector 
The hydrogen energy sector is evolving and the 
subject of intense and sometimes rapidly changing 
regulation. The Group is exposed to the risk that the 
competent authorities may pass legislation that might 
hinder or invalidate rights under existing contracts as 
well as hinder or impair the obtaining of the necessary 

permits or licences necessary for facilities in the 
construction phase. Furthermore, the relevant licences 
and permits may be adversely altered, revoked, or in 
the case of their expirations are not extended by the 
relevant authorities. These actions and any litigation 
undertaken by the Group in response, could have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s profitability 
and/or the price of the Ordinary Shares. 

Financial Risk Management Objectives 
and Policies 
Exchange rate risk  
The Group has principally financed its operations 
from equity issues raised in pounds sterling that have 
been converted to US Dollars, Paraguayan Guarani or 
Icelandic Krona as required to match expected 
expenditure plans. These principally consist of project 
expenditure in Paraguay and Iceland. 

The Group mitigates currency risk by holding cash 
reserves in the currencies it requires for expenditure 
and also may take out currency options from time to 
time to hedge significant currency exposure. Sterling 
is retained for central corporate costs. Further details 
are provided in Note 22. 

Statement by the Directors in performance 
of their statutory duties in accordance with 
s172(1) of the Companies Act 2006  
The Board consider, both individually and together, 
that they have acted in the way they consider, in good 
faith, would be most likely to promote the success of 
the Company for the benefit of its members as a 
whole (having regard to the stakeholders and matters 
set out in s172(1)(a-f) of the Companies Act 2006) in 
the decisions taken throughout the period ended 
31 December 2021.  

ATOME’s purpose is to build a better future through 
building from the ground up, new businesses in key 
locations around the world in cost efficient, long-
term co-operation with green energy suppliers and 
original equipment manufacturers to deliver optimal 
production performance and value to shareholders. 
We are focused on creating sustainable long-term 
value for each of our stakeholders. To achieve this, the 
Board has established the Company’s strategic 
roadmap, it has placed priority on good engagement 
with all stakeholders and it has considered and 
monitored the Company’s principal risks. The Board 
takes each of these matters into account and the 
likely long-term consequences of its decisions when 
pursuing the Company’s purpose. 

Strategic Report  
continued
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The Board believes strongly in the importance of 
being a responsible operator across all aspects of our 
business. In this regard, the safety of President’s 
workforce and the communities in which we operate 
is critical to our purpose, the quality of our 
relationships with host countries is very important 
and remains a priority. 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
Robert Sheffrin 
Group Finance Director  
26 May 2022 
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The Directors present their report and the audited 
financial statements of ATOME Energy PLC for the 
period ended 31 December 2021. 

Directors 
The Directors of the Company and those who served 
during the year, except as noted, were as follows: 

Principal 
Peter Levine                 (appointed 20 October 2021) 
Olivier Mussat             (appointed 07 December 2021) 
James Spalding            (appointed 07 December 2021) 
Robert Sheffrin            (appointed 07 December 2021) 
Nikita Levine               (appointed 20 October 2021) 
Richard Day                 (appointed 07 December 2021) 
Mary-Rose de               
Valladares                     (appointed 07 December 2021) 

None of the Directors have a service agreement of 
more than one year’s duration. Aside from those 
disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
starting on page 12, no Director has had a material 
interest in any contract of significance with the 
Company or its subsidiaries during the year. Details 
of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the 
Company are also set out in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. 

Results and Dividends 
The loss for the period after taxation amounted to 
US$2.2 million. The Directors do not recommend a 
dividend.  

Capital Structure 
Details of the issued share capital, together with 
details of the movements in the Company’s issued 
share capital during the period are shown in Note 17. 
Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote at 
general meetings of the Company. 

Subsequent Events 
In February 2022, the Company created a new 
division, ATOME Mobility, which in Paraguay is 
dedicated to providing a clean energy solution for 
heavy road transport and shipping, two hard-to-
abate industries where battery alternatives cannot 
provide effective solutions using present technology.  

ATOME Mobility will initially focus on hydrogen 
energy supply to the road transport sector from the 
main areas of population. This new division runs in 
parallel with the planning for ATOME's large scale 
green hydrogen and ammonia businesses in Paraguay 
and Iceland.  

In May 2022, ATOME signed a long term 60MW 
Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) with ANDE, the 
national electricity supply and distribution company 
of Paraguay. This is the largest single PPA ever signed 
between ANDE and an industrial user.  

Substantial Shareholders 
As at 1st May 2022, the Company had been notified 
in accordance with the requirements of provision 
5.1.2 of the Financial Conduct Authority’s Disclosure 
Guidance and Transparency Rules of the following 
significant holdings in the Company’s ordinary share 
capital: 

President Energy PLC 27.90% 
Alpha Oil Invest GmbH 11.50% 
PLLG Investments limited 10.90% 
Urion Holdings (Malta) Limited 6.10% 
Schroders Investment Management Limited 5.20% 

Percentages are based on the issued share capital at 
the date of notification.  

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the 
Company are disclosed in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. 

Further details of PLLG Investments Limited are set 
out in Note 26. 

Going Concern 
The Group Financial Information has been prepared 
on the going concern basis, which contemplates the 
continuity of normal business activity and the 
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in 
the normal course of business. The Directors have 
undertaken a review of the Company’s working 
capital requirements taking into account the net 
proceeds due from the share issue in December and 
Standby Equity Facility Agreement. The Directors are 
of the opinion that the Company is sufficiently well 
funded to be able to operate as a going concern for 
the initial development phase of the business. 

Under the Standby Equity Facility Agreement, PLLG 
Investments Limited and Peter Levine, Non-
Executive Chairman have agreed to subscribe for 
shares at the placing price at the option of the 
Company for 18 months from the AIM admission in 
December 2021. This makes an additional £3.0 
million facility available to the Group. 
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The Directors continue to monitor cash forecasts 
closely and apply sensitivity analyses to manage 
liquidity risk effectively. Cashflow forecasts 
incorporate the projected settlement of the net 
current liabilities related to investment activity as 
detailed in the Strategic Report. In arriving at their 
view on going concern, reasonable downside 
sensitivities are considered under which scenarios the 
Group can elect not to proceed with discretionary 
expenditure to mitigate risks accordingly.  

The cash position at the year-end was US$1.9 million 
with US$5.2 million of net proceeds due under the 
share raise to be received in 2022 due to the late 
timing of the fund raise.  

Based on their review of cash forecasts and related 
sensitivity analysis the Directors believe that the 
Group will have available to it the financial resources 
to meet all commitments as they fall due. Further 
details of the Group’s commitments are set out in 
Note 21. The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group and Company have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
annual financial statements. 

Risk and Uncertainties 
These have been included in the strategic report. 

Payment Policy and Practice 
It is company and group policy to settle all debts with 
creditors on a timely basis and in accordance with the 
terms of credit agreed with each supplier. Normal 
payment terms are about 30 days or less. The Group 
had no trade creditors overdue at 31 December 2021 
beyond agreed tended credit terms. 

Third Party Indemnities 
The Group has taken out Directors and Officers 
liability insurance and Third-Party liability insurance. 

Related Parties 
Details of the Group’s related party transactions are 
outlined in Note 26. 

Auditor 
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of 
approval of this annual report confirms that: 

•    so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Company’s auditor 
is unaware, and 

•    the Director has taken all the steps that he ought 
to have taken as a director in order to make 
himself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Company’s auditor is 
aware of that information.  

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted 
in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  

Annual General Meeting 
Attention is drawn to the Notice of Meeting enclosed 
with this Annual Report which sets out the 
resolutions to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. 

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 11.00 am 
on 29 June 2022 at the Army & Navy Club, 36-39 
Pall Mall, London, SW1Y 5JN. 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD 
Peter Levine 
Chairman 
26 May 2022 
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Whilst the Company is not required to present a 
directors’ Remuneration Report, as it is not subject to 
the requirements of Schedule 8 of the Large and 
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008, AIM notice 36 states 
that the annual accounts must provide disclosure of 
directors’ remuneration for the year by each director. 
The Company has chosen to present this information 
in this separate directors’ Remuneration Report. 

The current Directors are: 

Peter Michael Levine – Chairman (age 66) 
Peter Levine MA (Oxon), qualified as a solicitor in 
1980 and is an entrepreneur and investor primarily in 
the energy and technology sectors. Between 1993 and 
2008 Peter Levine was Deputy Chairman and then 
Chairman of the then FTSE 250 listed steel 
construction company, Severfield-Rowen Plc (now 
Severfield), during its period of significant growth. 
Peter Levine founded the former FTSE 250 listed oil 
production company (originally admitted to AIM in 
2004), Imperial Energy Corporation PLC, in 2004 and 
was Executive Chairman and largest individual 
shareholder until the US$2.4 billion sale to ONGC 
Videsh Limited which completed in January 2009 as 
well as Chairman of Keltbray Plc. Since 2014, Peter 
Levine has been the Chairman and Chief Executive of 
ATOME’s parent company, President Energy, which 
has traded on AIM since 2004. 

Richard Joseph Day – Deputy Chairman and Senior 
Independent Non-Executive Director (age 61) 
Richard Day was a co-founder of AIM-traded 
institutional stockbroker, Arden Partners plc where he 
worked from 2002 until 2015 and was Head of 
Corporate Finance. He is currently Non-Executive 
Chairman of big data analytics company, Pelatro plc, 
which is traded on AIM, and AQSE-listed The British 
Honey Company plc. Richard Day is also Chairman 
of Eden Geothermal Limited, a private company, 
which is drilling the first well on its two-well deep 
geothermal site at the Eden Project in Cornwall. 
Richard Day is a qualified lawyer, a member of the 
Law Society and the QCA Remuneration Committee 
and is an MCSI of the Chartered Institute for 
Securities & Investment. 

Olivier Charles Frederic Mussat – Chief Executive 
Officer (age 47) 
Prior to joining ATOME, Olivier Mussat was Chief 
Investment Officer – Energy, at the International 
Finance Corporation in Washington D.C., part of the 
World Bank Company, where he had been for 9 years, 
Olivier Mussat is experienced in funding and 

managing energy infrastructure assets and early to late 
stage companies, leading over US$500 million of direct 
equity investments and over US$30 billion of corporate 
and structured finance debt. Previously, Oliver Mussat 
was co-head in Oil & Gas Project Finance at Standard 
Chartered Bank in London and started his career as a 
field engineer in the power sector with Ecolochem 
International (a GE company). Olivier Mussat 
graduated with a B.A., International Studies, from 
Virginia Wesleyan University in 2000 and an M.S., 
Technology and Management from Ecole Centrale 
Supelec, Paris in 2004, and has been a member of the 
Society of Petroleum Engineers since 2008. 

James (Jim) Edward Clifton Spalding (Hellmers) –
Director and President of ATOME Paraguay 
(age 55) 
James Spalding was the Paraguayan General Director 
of the jointly owned Paraguay-Brazil hydroelectric 
dam, Itaipu Binacional, between 2013-2018. Between 
2003-2009, he was Ambassador of the Republic of 
Paraguay in the US, where he served in 2009 as Dean 
of the Latin America Ambassadors Company 
(GRULA). Since 1993, James Spalding has held a 
number of public sector positions in Paraguay 
including In 2002, as Minister of Finance and 
Coordinator of the National Economic Team, as well 
as Governor of Paraguay to the IDB, World Bank 
group, CAF and FONPLATA, President of the Board 
and CEO of Paraguayan Petroleum (PETROPAR) 
(1998-2000), Vice minister of Commerce (2000) and 
Vice minister of Economy and Integration and 
additionally Alternate Governor to the IDB, World 
Bank group, CAF and FONPLATA (2000-2002). He 
graduated with a Bachelor of Arts degree with a 
major in Economics (Honors: Cum Laude) from the 
University of Massachusetts, Amherst, USA, in May 
1989, and a Master of Arts degree (Economic 
Development) from Rutgers University, New Jersey, 
USA, in October 1992. 

Robert Anthony Sheffrin – Finance Director 
(age 66) 
Since 2017 Robert Sheffrin has been an investment 
director in the Intellectual Property and 
Commercialisation team at the University of Central 
Lancashire, is a former director of the UK Business 
Angels Association, former ICAEW Council Member 
and past president of the ICAEW Manchester. Robert 
Sheffrin trained as a chartered accountant with 
KPMG, qualifying in 1982, is a fellow of the ICAEW 
and a member of the Chartered Institute for 
Securities & Investment. Between 2006 and 2011, 
Robert Sheffrin was compliance director of Brooks 
Macdonald Funds Limited. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
(unaudited)
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Nikita Petrovich Levine – Business Development Director (age 26) 
Nikita Levine is currently head of investor relations at President Energy PLC. Nikita Levine graduated from 
University of Leeds Business School with an M.Sc International Business in September 2019 and a BA French 
and Russian Civilisation in 2018. 

Mary-Rose de Valladares (nee Szoka) – Independent Non-executive director (age 69) 
Mary-Rose de Valladares MA, MBA, is a clean energy, hydrogen, environment, and sustainability consultant 
and served as the General Manager of IEA (International Energy Agency) Hydrogen Technology Collaboration 
between 2003 and 2020. Mary-Rose de Valladares was the US Department of Energy National Renewable 
Energy Laboratory project developer for the 1996 Olympics in Atlanta, the first clean energy Olympics. She 
also served on the US National Hydrogen Association Board of Directors and co-founded the New Mexico 
Solar Energy Industry Association. Mary-Rose graduated with a Diplôme, French Civilisation from the 
University of Paris at the Sorbonne in 1973, a BA, Anthropology and Foreign Languages, from the University 
of Maryland in 1974, an MA, Urban Planning and American Studies in 1976 and an MBA from Georgetown 
University McDonough School of Business in 1998. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee comprises Mary-Rose de Valladares (as chairman) and Richard Day, both of 
whom are independent. The Remuneration Committee will review the performance of the executive Directors 
and make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to their remuneration and terms of employment. 
Under its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee is required to meet at least twice a year and is 
responsible for ensuring that the Company can recruit and retain Executive Directors, officers and other key 
employees who are fairly rewarded (which extends to all aspects of remuneration) for their individual 
contribution to the overall performance of the Group. 

Remuneration Policy 
The Group’s policy is to maintain levels of remuneration to attract, motivate and retain directors and other key 
employees of the highest calibre who can contribute their experience and views to the Group’s strategy and 
operations. Individual remuneration packages are structured to align rewards with the performance of the 
Group and the interests of shareholders. 

Directors’ Terms, Conditions and Remuneration 
The Directors have been engaged under the terms of executive service agreements and letters of appointment. 
Their initial engagements can be terminated after with twelve months’ notice except for Mr Sheffrin and 
Mr Day who are on three months’ notice. Thereafter, engagements can be terminated by either party with 
between three, six and twelve months’ notice. Articles of Association, which provide for retirement by rotation 
of one third of the board at each Annual General Meeting. For the period ended 31 December 2021, the 
Directors’ remuneration comprised a basic salary and the granting of share options to certain executives. There 
were no taxable benefits or payments to pension schemes. 

Salary 
The remuneration of directors since their appointment to ATOME Energy PLC in early December is set out below. 

2021 2021  
US$000 US$000 2021 

ATOME ATOME US$000 
Note Limited* Energy PLC Total 

Peter Levine 434 32 466 
Olivier Mussat 0 34 34 
Robert Sheffrin a 0 0 0 
Nikita Levine 148 23 171 
James Spalding 49 21 70 
Mary-Rose De Valladares 106 12 118 
Richard Day a 0 1 1 

0 0 0 

737 123 860  

* All fees for ATOME Limited directors were charged by President Energy PLC under a service agreement. 
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Note: 
Further details on share options can be found in Note 18.  

a)   Appointed at the end of December 2021 

Directors’ remuneration as reported above are those paid directly by the new parent entity ATOME Energy PLC 
following the transfer of the ATOME trade established in President Energy PLC in early December 2021. Also, 
all expenditure incurred by ATOME Limited, under the service agreement with President Energy.  

Directors’ Interests in the Share Capital of the Company 
The beneficial interests of the current Directors in the Ordinary Shares of the Company are: 

28 December 28 December 01 May 01 May  
2021 2021 2022 2022  

1p shares 1p shares 1p shares % interest 

Peter Levine *9,122,396 28.070% *9,122,396 28.070% 
Olivier Mussat 375,000 1.150% 375,000 1.150% 
Mary-Rose de Valladares – 0.000% 116,000 0.360% 
Robert Sheffrin 79,840 0.246% 79,840 0.250% 
Nikita Levine 66,490 0.205% 66,490 0.200% 
James Spalding 46,875 0.144% 46,875 0.140% 
Richard Day 15,000 0.046% 15,000 0.050% 

*The Ordinary Shares shown against Peter Levine’s name includes his direct holding of 1,813,500 Ordinary 
Shares, 3,750,000 Ordinary Shares held by Alpha Oil Invest GmbH and 3,558,896 Ordinary Shares held by 
PLLG Investments Limited. 

Executive Bonus Scheme 
The Remuneration Committee sets targets for directors and staff which contain both operational and strategic 
targets. 

Share Options Granted to Directors 
Details of options granted and held during the year are set out in Note 18. 

This report was approved by the Board on 26 May 2022 and was signed on its behalf by: 

Peter Levine 
Company Secretary 
26 May 2022

Directors’ Remuneration Report 
(unaudited) 
continued
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The Board 
ATOME Energy’s business is international in scope 
and carries political, commercial and technical risks. 
Accordingly, particular attention is paid to the 
composition and balance of the Board to ensure that 
it has wide experience of the sector and regulatory 
environment in which ATOME Energy operates and 
appropriate financial and risk management skills. In 
each Board appointment, whether executive or non-
executive, the Board considers that objectivity and 
integrity, as well as skills, experience and ability 
which will assist the Board in its key functions, are 
pre-requisites for appointment.  

The Board consists of three Non-Executive Directors 
(including the Chairman) and four Executive 
Directors, reflecting a blend of different experiences 
and backgrounds. Two Non-Executive Directors 
(being Richard Day and Mary-Rose de Valladares) are 
regarded as independent within the meaning of the 
QCA Corporate Governance Code and free from any 
relationship that could materially interfere with the 
exercise of their independent judgement. Richard Day 
is Deputy Chairman and the Senior Independent 
Director. The other Non-Executive Director, Peter 
Levine, is also a significant shareholder and investor. 

The Company will hold regular board meetings and 
the Directors will be responsible for formulating, 
reviewing and approving the Company’s strategy, 

budget and major items of capital expenditure. The 
Directors have established an audit committee, a 
nomination committee and a remuneration 
committee with formally delegated rules and 
responsibilities. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee, comprises Richard Day (as 
chair), with its other members consisting of Mary- 
Rose de Valladares and Olivier Mussat, will meet not 
less than three times a year. Richard Day and Mary-
Rose de Valladares are both independent and Olivier 
Mussat is deemed to have relevant financial 
experience. The committee will be primarily 
responsible for reviewing and overseeing the 
relationship with the external auditors, including 
making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment of auditors and the audit fee. and 
ensuring that the financial performance of the 
Company is properly monitored and reported. In 
addition, the Audit Committee will receive and 
review reports from management and the auditors 
relating to the interim report, the annual report and 
accounts and the internal control systems of the 
Company. The Audit Committee will also consider, 
manage and report on the risks associated with the 
Company as well as ensuring the Company’s 
compliance with the AIM Rules and UK MAR 
concerning disclosure of inside information. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate governance and have 
chosen to apply the Quoted Companies Alliance Corporate Governance Code 
(the ‘QCA Code’). The QCA Code was developed by the QCA in consultation with 
several significant institutional small company investors, as an alternative 
corporate governance code applicable to AIM companies. The underlying principle 
of the QCA Code is that “the purpose of good corporate governance is to ensure 
that the Company is managed in an efficient, effective and entrepreneurial manner 
for the benefit of all shareholders over the longer term”. The Directors anticipate 
that whilst the Company will continue to comply with the QCA Code, given the 
Group’s size and plans for the future, it will also endeavour to have regard to the 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code as best practice guidance to the 
extent appropriate for a company of its size and nature. To see how the Company 
addresses the key governance principles defined in the QCA Code, please refer to 
the section on corporate governance on our website. There were no meetings 
during this year and all matters regarding corporate governance are fully disclosed 
in the admission document which is available on the company website. Due to the 
size and formation of the group in late 2021, full compliance with the code will 
evolve as the company develops going forward.
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Nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee, comprises Mary Rose 
de Valladares (as chair), with its other members 
consisting of Peter Levine and Richard Day, will meet 
at least twice each year. This committee is responsible 
for reviewing the structure, size and composition of 
the Board based upon the skills, knowledge, diversity 
and experience required to ensure the Board operates 
effectively as well as being responsible for the annual 
evaluation of the performance of the Board and of 
individual directors. The Nomination Committee is 
expected to meet when necessary to do so. The 
Nomination Committee also identifies and 
nominates suitable candidates to join the Board when 
vacancies arise and makes recommendations to the 
Board for the re-appointment of any Non-Executive 
Directors. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee comprises Mary-Rose 
de Valladares (as chairman) and Richard Day, both of 
whom are independent. The Remuneration 
Committee will review the performance of the 
executive Directors and make recommendations to 
the Board on matters relating to their remuneration 
and terms of employment. Under its terms of 
reference, the Remuneration Committee is required 
to meet at least twice a year and is responsible for 
ensuring that the Company can recruit and retain 
Executive Directors, officers and other key employees 
who are fairly rewarded (which extends to all aspects 
of remuneration) for their individual contribution to 
the overall performance of the Group. 

Share Dealing Code 
With effect from Admission, the Company will 
operate its Share Dealing Code, which is compliant 
with Article 19 of UK MAR and Rule 21 of the AIM 
Rules for Companies. The Share Dealing Code will 
apply to any person discharging management 
responsibility, including the Directors and the senior 
management and any closely associated persons and 
applicable employees. 

The Share Dealing Code imposes restrictions beyond 
those that are imposed by law (including by FSMA, 
UK MAR and other relevant legislation) and its 
purpose is to ensure that persons discharging 
managerial responsibility and persons closely 
associated with them do not abuse, and do not place 
themselves under suspicion of abusing, unpublished 
price-sensitive information that they may have or be 
thought to have, especially in periods leading up to 
an announcement of financial results. The Share 

Dealing Code sets out a notification procedure which 
is required to be followed prior to any dealing in the 
Company’s securities. 

Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy 
The Company has adopted an anti-bribery and 
corruption policy which applies to the Board and 
employees of the Group and which sets out their 
responsibilities in observing and upholding a zero-
tolerance position on bribery and corruption in all the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates as well as 
providing guidance to those working for the Group 
on how to recognise and deal with bribery and 
corruption issues and the potential consequences. 
The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for 
implementing the policy and in the absence of any 
material changes, the Audit Committee shall report to 
the Board annually. The Company expects all 
employees, agents or other person or body acting on 
the Company’s behalf to conduct their business on 
the Company’s behalf in compliance with the 
Company’s policy. The prevention, detection and 
reporting of bribery is the responsibility of all 
employees throughout the Company. Employees are 
encouraged to raise concerns about any instance of 
malpractice at the earliest possible stage. Suitable 
channels of communication by which employees or 
others can report confidentially any suspicion of 
bribery will be maintained through the ability of 
employees to contact any member of the Board. 

In addition, the Company operates anti-money 
laundering, and whistle-blowing policies to ensure it 
operates in an ethical and sustainable manner. 

Environmental, Social, Regulatory and 
Governance Responsibility (ESG) 
The Directors believe that a long-term sustainable 
business model is essential for discharging the 
Board’s responsibility to promote the success of the 
Company, its employees, shareholders and other 
stakeholders of the business. In considering the 
Company’s strategic plans for the future, the 
Directors proactively consider the potential impact of 
its decisions on all stakeholders within its business, in 
additional to considering the broader environmental 
and social impact as well as the positive impact it can 
have within the local community the Company 
operates in. 

The Company intends to implement a formal 
corporate environmental, social, regulatory and 
governance responsibility (ESG) strategy and 
committee in due course, which will monitor the 

Corporate Governance Statement 
continued
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implementation of ESG practices to ensure the 
Company conducts its business with a view of 
long-term sustainability for its customers, employees, 
communities, the environment as well as its 
shareholders. 

The Company fully endorses the aims of the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 and takes a zero-tolerance approach 
to slavery and human trafficking within the Company 
and supply chain. 

Dividend Policy 
The Group’s focus is on bringing ATOME Paraguay 
and Green Fuel to commercial production. Until that 
happens and the Group becomes a revenue-
generating business with distributable reserves, the 
Board does not expect to be in a position to declare 
and pay dividends to Shareholders. Thereafter, a 
dividend policy will be adopted which takes into 
account the capital requirements of the Company, the 
Group’s future strategy and available cash resources. 
Accordingly, the potential to pay dividends will be 
kept under review and consideration by the Board as 
the Company’s Projects progress. 

Share Option Schemes 
The Directors recognise the role of the Company’s 
staff in contributing to its overall success and the 
importance of the Company’s ability to incentivise 
and motivate its employees. Therefore, the Directors 
believe that certain employees should be given the 
opportunity to participate and take a financial interest 
in the success of the Company. 

On Admission, 1,825,000 Warrants over Ordinary 
Shares were granted to certain Directors and senior 
managers as further detailed in Note 19.  

Relations with Shareholders 
Communications with shareholders are given high 
priority by the Board. The Companies Act 2006 (the 
“Act”) allows the Company to use its website to 
communicate with shareholders and so the Company 
makes documents and information available 
electronically on its website, including the following: 
Annual Report and Accounts, Interim Report and 
Notices of shareholders’ meetings. Using electronic 
communications deliver significant savings to the 
Company in terms of administration, printing and 
postage costs, as well as speeding up the provision of 
information to shareholders. The reduced use of 
paper will also have environmental benefits. Having 

said that, such information is sent in hard copy to 
those shareholders that request it. The Group 
endeavours to maintain a regular dialogue with 
institutions and analysts particularly in relation to 
interim and full year results. Subject to Government 
guidance in relation to health and safety, the Board 
welcomes as many investors as possible to the 
Annual General Meeting and invites discussion on 
issues facing the Group. The Company maintains an 
up-to-date website, which complies with AIM 
Rule 26. 

Internal Controls 
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the 
Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing 
its effectiveness. The Group’s system of internal 
control is designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and 
can only provide reasonable but not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Group’s system of internal control plays a critical 
role in managing the risks towards the achievement 
of ATOME Energy’s corporate vision and objectives 
and is also central to safeguarding ATOME Energy’s 
shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets. An 
ongoing process has been established for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 
by the Group. The Board has not identified nor been 
advised of any failings or weaknesses of the risk 
management or internal control systems which it has 
determined to be significant. 

Health, Safety and Environmental (HSE) 
ATOME has an HSE policy through which the 
Company is committed to maintaining high 
standards of health, safety and environmental 
performance across all its oil and gas exploration 
operations. ATOME is committed to the goals of: 

• avoiding harm to all personnel involved in, or 
affected by, its operations; 

• minimising the impact of its operations on the 
environment;  

• complying with all the applicable legal and other 
requirements where it operates; and  

• having a positive impact on people or communities 
directly affected by its activities and achieving 
continual improvement in its HSE performance. 
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law the directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with UK adopted 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs”) and applicable law. The Directors have 
elected to prepare the parent company financial 
statements in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and 
applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced 
Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the 
Directors must not approve the accounts unless they 
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or 
loss of the Company for that period.  

In preparing the parent company financial 
statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Company will continue in business. 

In preparing the Group financial statements, 
International Accounting Standard 1 requires that 
directors: 

• properly select and apply accounting policies; 
• present information, including accounting policies, 

in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 
comparable and understandable information;  

• provide additional disclosures when compliance 
with the specific requirements in IFRSs are 
insufficient to enable users to understand the 
impact of particular transactions, other events and 
conditions on the entity's financial position and 
financial performance; and 

• make an assessment of the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies 
Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 
fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s website. 
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Responsibility statement  
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge: 

• the financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with the relevant financial reporting framework, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of the Company 
and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole; 

• the strategic report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole, 
together with a description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties that they face; and 

• the annual report and financial statements, taken as 
a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Company’s position and performance, 
business model and strategy. 

This responsibility statement was approved by the 
Board of Directors on 26 May 2022 and is signed on 
its behalf by: 

 

Peter Levine  
Executive Chairman  
26 May 2022
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Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of ATOME Energy PLC (the “parent company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “group”) for the period ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, the Consolidated statement of financial position, the Company balance 
sheet, the Consolidated and Company statements of changes in equity, the Consolidated statement of cash 
flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements 
is applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting Standards. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosures Framework 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s 
affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group’s loss for the period then ended; 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted International 
Accounting Standards; 

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ 
assessment of the ability of the group and the parent company continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included the following procedures:  

The going concern assessment period used by the Directors was at least 12 months from the date of the 
approval of the financial statements. We assessed the appropriateness of the approach, assumptions and 
arithmetic accuracy of the model used by management when performing their going concern assessment. 

We evaluated the Directors’ assessment of the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, including 
challenging the underlying data and key assumptions used to make the assessment. Additionally, we reviewed 
and challenged the results of management’s stress testing, to assess the reasonableness of economic 
assumptions and confirmed available funding support. 

Further details of the Directors’ assessment of going concern is provided in Note 2. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and the parent company's 
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
members of ATOME Energy PLC 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
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Materiality 

In planning and performing our audit we applied the concept of materiality. An item is considered material if it 
could reasonably be expected to change the economic decisions of a user of the financial statements. We used 
the concept of materiality to both focus our testing and to evaluate the impact of misstatements identified. 

• $56,300 is the group level of materiality determined for the financial statements as a whole, this has been 
determined based on approximately 1% of the consolidated net assets. As the group was recently formed and 
has a no trading history at the reporting date we determined that an asset based metric was the most 
appropriate to use for determining materiality.  

• $42,225 is the group level of performance materiality. Performance materiality is used to determine the extent of 
our testing for the audit of the financial statements. Performance materiality is set based on the audit 
materiality as adjusted for the judgements made as to the entity risk and our evaluation of the specific risk of 
each audit area having regard to the internal control environment. Where considered appropriate performance 
materiality may be reduced to a lower level, such as, for related party transactions and directors’ remuneration. 

• $2,815 is the group level of triviality agreed with the Audit Committee. Errors above this threshold are reported 
to the Audit Committee, errors below this threshold would also be reported to the Audit Committee if, in our 
opinion as auditor, disclosure was required on qualitative grounds. 

The parent company materiality was assessed as £35,400 based on approximately 85% of group materiality. As the 
parent company does not trade in its own right and is the largest component of the group, we determined that this is 
appropriate. Parent company performance materiality was £26,550 and triviality was £1,770. 

Overview of the scope of our audit 

There are two significant components in the group, the parent company and ATOME UK Limited. We 
conducted the audit of both components from the UK. The other subsidiaries were considered to be 
immaterial and were subject to analytical review procedures. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the 
greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of 
the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We set out below, those matters we identified as key audit matters. This is not a complete list of all risks 
identified by our audit. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
continued 
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Key audit matter                                                                  How the scope of our audit addressed the key 
audit matter  

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We reviewed the calculations provided by the client 
to ascertain that the principles of merger accounting 
had been appropriately applied and that the 
combined business was effectively a continuation of 
ATM. 

We consider the combined assets, liabilities, results 
and cash flows of the merged entity have been 
appropriately recognised for the reporting period. 

Corporate restructuring 

ATOME UK Limited (ATM) was incorporated in 
January 2021 owned by President Energy (85%) and 
FIIP (15%). ATOME Energy PLC (AEP) was 
incorporated in October 2021 as a wholly owned 
subsidiary of President Energy.  

On 8th December 2021, ATM was acquired by AEP 
via a share for share exchange. Prior to this 
acquisition, AEP was a shell company. Following the 
combination all business and trade of ATM was 
transferred to AEP and the former effectively became 
dormant. 

There is a risk that the combination is not accounted 
for correctly in the light of facts and circumstances. 
Given that this is a common control transaction and 
AEP had no activities prior to the combination with 
ATM, merger accounting has been applied to this 
reorganisation as explained in Note 3. 

We have assessed the nature of share issue costs 
based on documentation and reviewed 
management’s allocation of these costs between 
statement of comprehensive income and equity 

We are satisfied that the allocation between 
statement of comprehensive income and equity is on 
a reasonable basis. 

Allocation of share issue costs 

AEP was admitted to the AIM market of London 
Stock Exchange on 30 December 2021. To facilitate 
this process, various costs were incurred both related 
to the stock market listing and issuance of new 
shares. There is a risk that these costs have not been 
allocated between statement of comprehensive 
income and equity on a rational and consistent basis.  

Management allocated these costs based on their 
nature. Costs that relate to the stock market listing 
have been recorded as an expense in the statement 
of comprehensive income. Incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to issuing new shares have been 
deducted from equity. Common costs have been 
apportioned between other comprehensive income 
and equity as discussed in Note 3.
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Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we 
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other 
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit  

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors' report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the 
directors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit 

Responsibilities of directors 
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 18, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the 
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Independent Auditor’s Report  
continued 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below:  

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks within which the Group operates, 
focusing on those laws and regulations that have a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The laws and regulations we considered in this context were relevant 
company law and taxation legislation in the UK. 

We identified the greatest risk of material impact on the financial statements from irregularities, including 
fraud, to be the override of controls by management. Our audit procedures to respond to these risks included 
enquiries of management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, sample 
testing on the posting of journals and reviewing accounting estimates for biases.  

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected 
some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and 
performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. We are not responsible for preventing 
non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.  

These inherent limitations are particularly significant in the case of misstatement resulting from fraud as this 
may involve sophisticated schemes designed to avoid detection, including deliberate failure to record 
transactions, collusion or the provision of intentional misrepresentations. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Matthew Stallabrass 
Senior Statutory Auditor 

For and on behalf of  
Crowe U.K. LLP 
Statutory Auditor 

London 
26 May 2022
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2021 
Note US$000 

Continuing Operations 
Administrative expenses 5 (2,267) 
Investment grant 24  

Operating profit/(loss) before impairment and non-operating gains/(losses) (2,243) 
 
Profit / (loss) after impairment and non-operating gains/(losses) (2,243) 
Finance income 6 –  
Finance costs 6 – 

Profit / (loss) before tax (2,243) 
 
Total income tax (charge)/credit 9 – 

Profit / (loss) for the year from continuing operations (2,243) 

Profit / (loss) for the year from continuing operations 
Attributable to equity holders (2,243) 
Non-controlling interest 11 – 

(2,243) 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 
Items that may be reclassified  subsequently to profit or loss 
  Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 56  

Total comprehensive profit /(loss) for the year attributable  
  to the equity holders of the parent (2,187) 

Earnings / (loss) per share US cents 
Basic profit/(loss) per share from continuing operations 10 (8.96) 
Diluted profit(loss) per share from continuing operations (8.96) 

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Period ended 31 December 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
31 DECEMBER 2021 

2021 
Note US$000 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 
Goodwill 6  
Property, plant and equipment 12 45  

51  

Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 13 6,355  
Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,865  

8,220  

TOTAL ASSETS 8,271  

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 15 1,198  
Short term facility 16 1,415  

2,613  

Non-current liabilities  
Trade and other payables 15 22  

22  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,635  

EQUITY  
Share capital 18 87  
Share premium 7,653  
Retained earnings (2,243) 
Translation reserve 56  
Share option reserve 83  

Total 5,636  
Non-controlling interest 11 –  

TOTAL EQUITY 5,636  

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8,271  

These financial statements ATOME Energy PLC (company number 13691713) were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorised for issue on 26 May 2022. They were signed on their behalf by: 

Peter Levine  
Executive Chairman  
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

263603 Atome Energy AR_pp24-pp27.qxp  30/05/2022  16:34  Page 25



26 ATOME Energy PLC | Annual Report and Accounts 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
Period ended 31 December 2021 

Share Non-  
capital & Retained Other Total controlling  
premium  earnings Reserves Interest Total 

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Balance at 6 January 2021   – – – – – –  
 
Share-based payments – – 83 83 – 83  
Shares issued on reorganisation 67 67 67  
Offer of shares to public 8,071 – – 8,071 – 8,071  
Costs of issue new shares (398) – – (398) – (398) 
 

Transactions with the owners 7,740 – 83 7,823 – 7,823  

 
Loss for the period – (2,243) – (2,243) (2,243) 
Translation reserve – – 56 56 56  

Total comprehensive income for  
  the year – (2,243) 56 (2,187) – (2,187) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 7,740 (2,243) 139 5,636 – 5,636  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 
US$000 

Cash flows from operating activities  
Cash generated by operating activities (note 20) 24  

24  

Cash flows from investing activities 
Acquisition Paraguay (3) 
Acquisition Iceland (3) 

(6) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from issue of shares (net of expenses) 1,849  
Repayment of obligations under leases (2) 

1,847  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,865  
Opening cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period – 
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash equivalents  –  

Closing cash and cash equivalents 1,865   

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

1. General information 
Corporate status 
ATOME Energy PLC is a public company limited by shares and incorporated in England in the United 
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on page 52. The nature 
of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are set out in Note 4 and in the Strategic Report on 
pages 04 to 09. The Company is quoted on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange (ticker: ATOM), 
and is headquartered in Leeds, UK, with an office in Asunción, Paraguay. Details on all subsidiaries of the 
group are provided in Note 4 in the Company accounts. The financial statements are for the period 6 January 
2021 to 31 December 2021 and was listed on the AIM market on 30 December 2021. 

Presentation currency 
The presentation currency is the United States (US) Dollar as all the Group’s budgeting, cost management and 
future trading are in US Dollars.  

The functional currency of each entity in the Group is determined according to the indicators of the 
circumstances arising for each entity and is normally the currency of the primary environment in which it 
operates. Consequently, the functional currency for the entity statutory financial statements for 
ATOME Energy PLC and ATOME Limited are in GBP sterling, for ATOME Paraguay SA in Paraguayan 
Guarani and for Green Fuel ehf in Icelandic Krona. 

The Group’s accounting policy on foreign currencies is detailed in Note 2f. 

2. Significant accounting policies 
a) Basis of preparation  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is 
applicable law and UK adopted International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. The Group financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1: Presentation of financial 
statements. A summary of the significant Group accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements is set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.  

This included the following: 

- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16. 

- Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendment to IFRS 16. 

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised and are not expected to 
significantly affect the current or future periods. Certain new accounting standards, amendments to 
accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2021 
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These standards, amendments or 
interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting 
periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

b) Basis of accounting 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenses as further described in Note 3. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, 
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods, if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. The critical accounting judgements and associated key sources of estimation 
uncertainty are referred to in Note 3 below. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
c) Basis of consolidation 
The Group financial statements include the results of the Company and all its subsidiary undertakings. 
A subsidiary is an entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Group. Control is the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements 
of subsidiaries are included in the Group financial statements from the date that control commences until the 
date that control ceases. There are no unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra 
Group transactions. Intra Group balances are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

ATOME Energy became the parent entity of the Group following a reorganisation of the ATOME businesses 
under common control while under the control of President Energy PLC. Consequently, the Group has 
applied merger accounting for the capital reorganisation and consolidated the financial results for the full 
accounting period. ATOME Energy PLC is the legal owner and operating entity going forward. 

ATOME Energy controls indirectly 75% of the share capital of Green Fuel ehf with the balance held by 
third party minority interests.  As the parent entity, ATOME Energy consolidates 100% of the financial 
results of the subsidiary with the non-controlling interest share recognised as a non-controlling interest. 
The non-controlling interests arising in its consolidated statement of financial position is shown separately 
within equity and the profit or loss attributable to the non-controlling interest shown on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

d) Going concern 
The Group Financial Information has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the 
continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business. The Directors have undertaken a review of the Group’s working capital 
requirements taking into account the net proceeds due from the share issue in December and Standby Equity 
Facility Agreement.  The Directors are of the opinion that the Company is sufficiently well funded to be able to 
operate as a going concern for the initial development phase of the business. 

Under the Standby Equity Facility Agreement, PLLG Investments Limited and Peter Levine, Non-Executive 
Chairman have agreed to subscribe for shares at the placing price at the option of the Company for 
18 months from the AIM admission in December 2021. This makes an additional £3.0 million facility available 
to the Group. 

The Directors continue to monitor cash forecasts closely and apply sensitivity analyses to manage liquidity risk 
effectively. Cashflow forecasts incorporate the projected settlement of the net current liabilities related to 
investment activity as detailed in the Strategic Report. In arriving at their view on going concern, reasonable 
downside sensitivities are considered under which scenarios the Group can elect not to proceed with 
discretionary expenditure to mitigate risks accordingly.   

The cash position at the year-end was US$1.9 million with US$5.2 million due under the share raise received 
in 2022 due to the late timing of the fund raise.  

Based on their review of cash forecasts and related sensitivity analysis the Directors believe that the Group will 
have available to it the financial resources to meet all commitments as they fall due. Further details of the 
Group’s commitments are set out in Note 22. The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and 
Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued

2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
e) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for 
impairment in value. The Group recognises in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment the 
subsequent costs of replacing part of such items when they are expected to generate future economic benefits 
and such costs can be reliably determined. The carrying value of a part is derecognised when it is replaced. 
All other costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense as they are incurred. 

Depreciation is on a straight-line basis to write off the cost, less the estimated residual value, of property, plant 
and equipment over their estimated useful lives. Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have separate 
lives, they are accounted for and depreciated as separate items.  

Policies with respect to Right of Use assets are detailed below under Leases. 

f) Foreign currencies 
Functional and presentation currency 
The functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates and 
is normally the currency in which an entity primarily generates and expends cash. The Parent Company’s 
functional currency is GBP Sterling. The Directors have determined that the presentational currency is 
US Dollars as all the Group’s budgeting, cost management and future trading are in US Dollars. 

Exchange on foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. All exchange differences on transactions in currencies other than the individual entity’s functional 
currency are recognised as profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred. Monetary assets and liabilities 
that are denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated at the exchange rate ruling at 
that date with any exchange differences arising on retranslation being recognised as profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  

Translation of Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the Group’s presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows: 

• assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
balance sheet; 

• income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is 
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate 
reserve in equity. On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 
foreign operations are taken to shareholders’ equity as an item of other comprehensive income or expense. 
When a foreign operation is disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

g) Financial instruments 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits with an original maturity of 
three months or less. 

Trade payables and other creditors 
Trade payables and other creditors are non-interest bearing and are initially recognised at fair value net of 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost under the effective interest method. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
g) Financial instruments (continued) 
Equity 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded as the proceeds received, 
net of direct issue costs, allocated between share capital and share premium. 

Accounting for financial assets 
Financial assets are divided into the following categories: 

• loans and receivables; and 
• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics of 
the instrument and its purpose. A financial instrument’s category is relevant for the way it is measured and 
whether any resulting income and expenditure are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 
See note 21 for a summary of the Group’s financial assets by category.  The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified 
approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and other 
receivables.  Based on Management assessment the credit loss in receivables from investors and other receivables 
as at 31 December 2021 would be immaterial; therefore, in line with IFRS 9, no impairment was recognised. 

All income and expense relating to financial assets are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
line item “finance costs” or “investment income”, respectively. 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. At initial recognition these are measured at fair value plus transaction costs, less 
provision for impairment, and thereafter at amortised cost under the effective interest rate method. All finance 
costs under the effective interest rate method are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The Group’s trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables. Discounting, however, is 
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Significant receivables are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due at the 
reporting date or when objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. All other 
receivables are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and 
region or counterparty and other available features of shared credit risk characteristics, if any. 

h) Income taxes 
Tax expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income comprises the sum of deferred tax and 
current tax not recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting periods that are unpaid at the reporting date. Current tax is payable 
on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the financial statements. 

Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period. 

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. Deferred tax is 
generally provided on the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. 
However, deferred tax is not provided on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related 
transaction is a business combination or affects tax or accounting profit. Deferred tax on temporary differences 
associated with shares in subsidiaries and joint ventures is not provided if reversal of these temporary 
differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable 
future. In addition, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to the Group 
are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
h) Income taxes (continued) 
Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full, with no discounting. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the underlying deductible temporary differences will be able to be offset against 
future taxable income. 

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their 
respective period of realisation, provided that they are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income, except where they relate to items that are charged or credited directly to equity (such 
as the revaluation of land) in which case the related deferred tax is also charged or credited directly to equity. 

i) Share-based payments 
The Group has applied the requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. All share-based awards of the 
Group are equity settled as defined by IFRS 2. The fair value of these awards has been determined at the date 
of grant of the award. Although the fair value does not change, the level of awards may be adjusted annually 
by the Group’s estimate of the number of awards that will eventually vest as a result of non-market conditions, 
is expensed uniformly over the vesting period.  

The fair value of options/warrants are calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Where market 
related conditions exist,  a Monte Carlo model would be applied to assess the probability that the condition 
would be met. Further details are in Note 18. 

j) Leases 
On inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A lease is 
recognised if the contract conveys the right to control and use an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. To make the determination the Group assess whether it has the right to obtain all 
of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the period of use, and whether the Group has 
the right to direct the use of the asset. 

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset 
is available for use by the Group. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost which comprises the initial 
amount of the lease liability plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs required to remove or 
restore the underlying asset. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 
the lease term on a straight-line basis.  

The initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability is at the present value of the lease payments at the 
lease commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the incremental borrowing rate.  

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there 
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee or 
if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount 
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 
been reduced to zero.  

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Over the course of a lease contract, there will 
be taxable timing differences that could give rise to deferred tax, subject to local tax laws and regulations.  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
k) Segment reporting 
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses and whose results are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision 
makers. The Group operates in one product segment which is, the development, production and the sale of 
green fuel energy and related activities. Segment information is presented in accordance with IFRS 8 for all 
periods presented. 

l) Business combinations 
Acquisitions of subsidiaries which are businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of 
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for 
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition are recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities are 
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes. Any surplus of the consideration over the 
fair value of the net assets acquired is accounted for as goodwill, and any surplus of the fair value of the net 
assets acquired over the consideration represents a bargain purchase recorded in the income statement as a 
credit. Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held interest in the acquiree is 
remeasured to the acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain is recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill 
arising on acquisition is assessed for impairment each reporting period. 

m) Inventory 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average 
cost basis and comprises direct purchase costs. Net realisable value is determined by reference to prices 
existing at the reporting date. 

n) Grant Income 
All grant income on revenue based grants are recognised on receipt of payment. 

3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  
In order to prepare the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS, management of the Group 
have to make estimates and judgements. The matters described below are considered to be the most 
important in understanding the judgements that are involved in preparing these statements and the 
uncertainties that could impact the amounts reported in the results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows. Group accounting policies are described in Note 2. 

Critical accounting judgements 
There are two critical judgements that the Directors have made in applying the Group’s accounting policies as 
detailed in Note 2. Firstly, that the going concern basis as detailed above is appropriate for the Group.  

Secondly, that merger accounting is an appropriate approach to the consolidation and accounting for the 
combination of ATOME Energy PLC and ATOME UK Limited. Based on the facts and circumstances, it was 
deemed appropriate to apply merger accounting principles rather than acquisition accounting as these entities 
were under common control at the time of the reorganisation.  Consequently, the results for the period show 
the combined position as if they had been operating as one entity throughout the period. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
These are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. 
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3. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
Cost of new shares and cost of listing  
The cost of new shares issued is deducted from share premium while the cost of the Initial Public Offering is 
record as administrative expense. In arriving at the split of the common costs a rational and appropriate basis 
has been applied in order to estimate the allocation. 

4. Segment reporting 
In the opinion of the Directors, the operations of ATOME Energy PLC comprise one class of business, the 
development, production and the sale of green fuel energy and related activities. An operating segment is a 
component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses and whose results are regularly reviewed by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors reviews 
operating results by reference to the core principle of geographic location. The Group currently has projects in 
two geographical markets: the Paraguay and Iceland. It has a head office and associated corporate expenses in 
the UK.  

Iceland Paraguay UK Total 
2021 2021 2021 2021 

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Administrative expenses 20 8 2,239 2,267  
Investment grant (24) –  –  (24) 

Segment costs (4) 8 2,239 2,243  

Segment operating profit/(loss) 4 (8) (2,239) (2,243) 

Segment assets 
Iceland Paraguay UK Total 

2021 2021 2021 2021 
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Goodwill 3 3   – 6  
Property, plant and equipment   –  45   –  45  

3 48  –  51  
Other assets 3 3 6,349 6,355  

6 51 6,349 6,406  

Segment assets can be reconciled to the Group as follows: 

2021 
US$000 

Segment assets 6,406  
Group cash 1,865  

Group assets 8,271  

Segment liabilities 

Iceland Paraguay UK Total 
2021 2021 2021 2021 

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 

Total liabilities 5 52 2,578 2,635    

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued
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5. Administrative expenses 
2021 

US$000 

Directors and staff costs (including non-executive Directors) 167  
Expenditure by ATOME Limited under President Energy 1,249  
Cost of issue for existing shares 679  
Share-based payments 83  
Depreciation 2  
Other 87  

2,267    

 
Expenditure by ATOME Limited under President Energy 

2021
US$000 

Director fees 737  
Legal fees 55  
Consultancy 248  
Finance and other administration 209  

1,249  

Directors and staff cost as reported above are the direct cost incurred by the new parent entity ATOME Energy 
PLC following the transfer of the ATOME trade established in President Energy PLC. The expenditure 
incurred by ATOME Limited under service agreements with President Energy amounts to US$1.2 million and 
are consolidated in full under the merger of businesses under common control. These costs were incurred prior 
to the flotation of ATOME Energy on AIM and were disclosed in the Admission Document. The costs of listing 
for existing shares are expensed separately from the cost of issue for new shares which are included in share 
premium in line with accounting guidelines. 

6. Finance income and costs 
No material amounts were incurred in the period 

7. Profit / (loss) before tax 
2021

US$000 

Profit/(loss) before tax has been arrived at after charging:  
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 15) 2  
Staff costs in Admin & Operations (note 5) 167  
Rentals payable in respect of land and buildings   –   

Auditor’s remuneration 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the annual accounts 28  
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries –   

Total audit fees 28  
Reporting accountants for the IPO   102   
Tax advisory services   –   

130   
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8. Staff costs 
2021 

Number 

Average monthly number of employees 
(including executive Directors and Chairman 
but excluding non-executive Directors) 
Management 2 

2 

2021 
US$000 

Wages, salaries and Directors’ fees 
(including Chairman and excluding non-executive Directors) – 
Expense in respect of share-based payments 3 
Social security costs – 

3 

* for period ending 31 December 2021, this is one month average 

Included in the above is the following Directors’ remuneration earned in respect of the financial year by each 
director of the company acting in such capacity during the financial year. There were no pension contributions 
paid to any director in the year. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are provided in the Director’s Report.  

2021 
US$000 

Emoluments paid in respect of the highest paid 
Director in the period from ATOME Energy PLC  
(excluding share-based payment charge) 34 

9. Tax 
2021 

US$000 

Current tax credit /(charge) – 
Deferred tax 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences – 

– 

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows: 

2021 
US$000 

Profit / (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation (2,243) 

Tax at 19% (2019: 19%) 426  
Deferred tax carried forward but not recognised (20) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (405) 
Difference between Iceland, Paraguay and UK tax rates (1) 

Tax as per statement of comprehensive income   –   

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued
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9. Tax (continued) 
Tax losses carried forward but not recognised are as follows: 

US$000 

UK 105  
Paraguay   –   
Iceland –   

Total 105  

10. Earnings / (Loss) per share 
2021 

US$000 

Net profit / (loss) for the period attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company (2,243) 

Number 
‘000 

Weighted average number of shares in issue 25,021  

US cents 

Earnings /(loss) per share  
Basic earnings / (loss) per share from continuing operations (8.96) 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share from continuing operations (8.96) 

In order to reflect the merger, shares issued by ATOME Energy as part of the reorganisation have been 
included from the start of the period. 

At 31 December 2021, 2,091,500 share option and share warrant awards were in issue that, if exercised, would 
dilute earnings per share in the future. No dilution per share was calculated for 2021 as with the reported loss 
they are anti-dilutive. 

11. Non-controlling interests 
The Group controls 75% of the Icelandic subsidiary Green Fuel ehf and as such has consolidated the full 
financial results in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Consolidated statement of 
Financial Position. 

There are no material amounts due to the non-controlling interest with respect to the results for the period or 
as at 31 December 2021. 
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12. Property, plant and equipment 
2021 2021 

Leased  
assets Total 

Cost US$000 US$000 

At 1 January   –   –   
Additions 47 47  

At 31 December 47 47  

Depreciation  
At 1 January –  –   
Charge for the year 2 2  

At 31 December 2 2  

Net Book Value  

At 31 December 45 45  

Leased assets comprise an office lease in Paraguay. 

13. Trade and other receivables 
2021 

US$000 

Outstanding on share issue* 6,128  
Other receivables 76  
Prepayments 151  

6,355  

* US$6.1 million receivable for shares issued but not fully paid in the period  

14. Cash and cash equivalents 
2021 

US$000 

Cash at bank and in hand 1,865  

15.  Trade and other payables 
2021 

US$000 

Current  
Other payables 258  
Costs of issue for new and existing shares outstanding* 918  
Current portion of leases 22  

1,198  

Non-current 
Non-current portion of leases 22  
Non-current portion of other payables   –   

22  

* US$0.9 million payable for amounts due for listing and IPO related expenses 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued
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16. Short term facility 
2021 

US$000 

Current 
Loans on acquisition of ATOME Limited 1,415  

1,415  

During 2021, the Group assumed GBP denominated non-interest bearing loans in respect of the transfer of 
the business established in President Energy. The loans provided by President Energy and Fondo de Inversion 
en Innovacion de Paraguay S.A. (“FIIP”) (FIIP is an investment fund in Paraguay controlled by Peter Levine) 
Further details provided in note 25), provided funding in the development of the business and to meet 
working capital requirements until the completion of the fund raise. These loans have been fully settled in 
2022 from the proceeds of the share raise. Further details are provided in Note 25. 

17. Leases 
2021 

US$000 

Leased liabilities 
Property leases 44  

44  

Current 22 
Non-current 22 

44  

The cash out flow for leases amounted to US$2 thousand in the period. 

18. Share capital 

Equity share capital 
2021 
’000s 

Issued - authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid 
Ordinary shares of par value £0.002 (US$0.003) 32,500 

Balance at beginning of period 0 
Shares issued 32,500 
Balance at end of period 32,500 

 
US$000 

Ordinary shares of par value £0.002 (US$0.003) 87 

87 

The issued share capital is reconciled as follows 
Balance at beginning of year 0 
Shares issued 87 

Balance at end of year 87 

During 2021, nominal share capital worth US$67 thousand were issued fully paid in the transfer of business 
established in President Energy and a further US$20 thousand in the fundraise at the end of December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued

19. Share-based payments 
Share options and warrants outstanding at the respective reporting dates are as follows: 

Forfeited /  
Grant Target 31 Dec Granted Exercised lapsed in    31 Dec Fair 

Note date Price 2020 in year in year year         2021 Exercise value 

Options/Warrants '000 '000 '000 '000          '000 p/share p/share 

Olivier Mussat a 30 Dec 21 80p – 1,103 – –        1,103 0.002 80.000 

Nikita Levine a 30 Dec 21 80p – 125 – –           125 0.002 80.000 

James Spalding a 30 Dec 21 80p – 230 – –           230 0.002 80.000 

Senior employees a 30 Dec 21 80p – 368 – –           368 0.002 80.000 

Suppliers b 30 Dec 21 80p – 267 – –           267 80.00 22.000 

– 2,092 – –        2,092  

Note 

a) Options/warrants granted to directors and staff at nil cost come in three tranches and are subject to 
remaining in employment over 12, 24 and 36 months from the date of grant with the share price at the time 
of exercise being above 80p per share. The option/warrants are exercisable within three years from the date 
the employment condition is satisfied. These options have been valued using a Black Scholes model as 
detailed below. 

b) Options granted to suppliers have vested and have no conditions. These are exercisable for two years from 
the date of admission at 80p per share. These options have been valued using a Black Scholes model as 
detailed below and the likelihood that the market related condition being met assessed using a Monte 
Carlo model. 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options/warrant is 2.0 years from 31 December 2021.  

The inputs into the Black-Scholes model for the options granted in the year are as follows: 

2021 

Weighted average exercise price 80p 
Expected volatility 50% 
Expected life 2 years 
Risk-free rate 1.0% 

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the volatility of the Group’s share price over a period post 
admission of the shares to AIM. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s 
best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.  

20. Notes to the consolidated statement cash flows 
2021 

US$000 

Profit / (loss) from operations before taxation (2,243) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2  
Share-based payments 83  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (2,158) 
Decrease / (increase) in receivables (199) 
Increase / (decrease) in short term facility 1,415  
Increase / (decrease) in payables 966  

Net cash generated by operating activities 24  
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21. Contingent liabilities 
There are no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021 

22. Capital commitments 
Capital commitments 
There are no capital commitments as at 31 December 2021 

23. Risk management objectives and policies 
a) Overview 
The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, 
interest rate risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities. The 
Group’s risk management is co-ordinated at its Leeds, UK headquarters, in close co-operation with the Board 
of Directors, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimising the 
exposure to financial markets. To date, the Group has financed its operations from equity issues in Pounds 
sterling and loans denominated in Pounds. The Group uses financial instruments (other than derivatives) 
comprising cash, liquid resources and various items, such as trade debtors and trade creditors that arise 
directly from its operations. The Group has not recently entered into any derivative transactions. In the normal 
course of its operations and through its financial instruments the Group is exposed to foreign currency risk. 

b) Foreign currency risk and sensitivity 
With the exception of Group overheads arising in the UK, most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in 
US Dollars. The financial statements are presented in US Dollars as much of the Group’s business is conducted 
in US Dollars.  The Company raises equity funds in Pounds sterling and converts to US dollars as required. 
A balance of funds is retained in Pounds sterling to meet future Group overheads. 

At the year end the Group held the following cash and cash equivalent balances. 

2021 
US$000 

US Dollars 8 
Sterling 1,849 
Icelandic Krona 5 
Paraguayan Guarani 3 

1,865  

Based upon the year-end balances, if the exchange rate between the US Dollar and sterling changed by 10% 
there would be a profit or loss of US$185,000. If the exchange rate between the US Dollar and the Paraguayan 
Guarani changed by 10% there would be a profit or loss of US$0. If the exchange rate between the US Dollar 
and the Icelandic Krona changed by 10% there would be a profit or loss of US$0. 

c) Credit risk 
The Group’s main receivable is the funds due from the share raise late in December 2021. With the balances 
due concentrated in established investors the risk is considered low. The remaining receivables are balances 
with fiscal authorities. The credit risk for liquid funds is considered to be negligible as the counterparties are 
banks with good external credit ratings. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount 
of financial assets recognised at the balance sheet date, as summarised below: 

2021 
US$000 

Outstanding on share issue 6,128  
Other receivables 76  
Cash at bank and in hand 1,865  

8,220  
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23. Risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
d) Liquidity risk analysis 
The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring its cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-
day business. Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a week-to-week basis, as well as on the 
basis of a rolling monthly projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a half year and an annual lookout period 
are identified monthly. The Group aims to maintain cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 60-day 
periods. As at 31 December 2021 the Group’s financial liabilities, all of which are non-interest bearing, have 
contractual maturities which are summarised as follows: 

Current 

<6 months 7-12 months 
US$000 US$000 

Trade payables 182 –  
Cost of issue outstanding 918 – 
Current portion of leases 11 11  
Other payables 76 –  
Loans on acquisition of ATOME Limited 1,415 – 

2,602 11  

The Group’s borrowings are set out in Note 15 and have been settled in 2022. 

e) Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category 
With the exception of Group borrowings, further detail of which is set out in Note 20, the fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities approximates to the carrying value due to the short-term nature of the financial 
instruments with the exception of non-current loans and receivables that are held at amortised cost. 

2021 
US$000 

Current financial assets at amortised cost 
Trade receivables 6,128  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,865  

7,993  

Current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
Other payables 258  
Costs of issue outstanding 918  
Current portion of leases 22  
Borrowings 1,415  

2,613  

24. Managing capital 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital (debt and equity finance) are: 

• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; 

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the 
level of risk; and 

• to fund the Group with equity in the long term and using debt where applicable to fund the development of 
the business 

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk and its plans for growth. The Group manages the 
capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
adjust any amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued
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25. Subsequent events 
In February 2022, the Company created a new division, ATOME Mobility, which in Paraguay is dedicated to 
providing a clean energy solution for heavy road transport and shipping, two hard-to-abate industries where 
battery alternatives cannot provide effective solutions using present technology.   

ATOME Mobility will initially focus on hydrogen energy supply to the road transport sector from the main 
areas of population. This new division runs in parallel with the planning for ATOME's large scale green 
hydrogen and ammonia businesses in Paraguay and Iceland.  

In May 2022, ATOME signed a long term 60MW Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) with ANDE, the national 
electricity supply and distribution company of Paraguay. This is the largest single PPA ever signed between 
ANDE and an industrial user.   

26. Transactions with Directors and other related parties 
President Energy and FIIP Loan 
Peter Levine is Chairman and majority shareholder and provides loans to President Energy PLC, a related 
party. Pursuant to agreements dated 8 December 2021 the Group has acknowledged debt from President 
Energy PLC the founder of the Company and from Fondo de Inversion en Innovacion de Paraguay S.A. 
(“FIIP”) (FIIP is an investment fund in Paraguay controlled by Peter Levine), which includes expenditure 
incurred by President on ATOME Limited’s behalf, and to provide a short-term facility until the completion of 
the fund raise. Further details are provided in Note 15. 

Nikita Levine, is a family member and Director of ATOME Energy PLC, and also provides services to President 
Energy PLC through a third-party supplier.  

Relationship Agreements 
On 17 December 2021, each of Peter Levine and President Energy PLC (the “Relationship Shareholders”) 
entered into the Relationship Agreements with the Company and Beaumont Cornish. The principal purpose of 
the Relationship Agreements is to ensure that the Company is capable at all times of carrying on its business 
independently of the Relationship Shareholders. The Relationship Agreements take effect from Admission and 
continue for so long as (1) the Ordinary Shares are admitted to trading on AIM and (2) the Relationship 
Shareholders and their connected persons and group companies are interested in voting rights representing, 
in aggregate, 20 per cent. or more of total voting rights attaching to the Ordinary Shares. The Relationship 
Agreement with Peter Levine will also expire in the event that he is interested, together with his associates, in 
voting rights representing less than 30 per cent. of the total voting rights following the second anniversary of 
Admission. Under the Relationship Agreement, each Relationship Shareholder has agreed that it shall and to 
procure that his associates shall, inter alia: 

a) conduct all transactions, and arrangements with the Company on an arm’s length basis and on normal 
commercial terms; 

b) not take any action that would have the effect of preventing the Company from complying with its 
obligations under the AIM Rules for Companies or other applicable law. 

Service agreement 
On 17 December 2021 the Company entered into an agreement with President Energy PLC whereby 
President Energy PLC agreed to provide to the Company management and director support, technical, 
logistical and commercial support in respect of operational planning and support regarding hydrogen and 
ammonia production, and accounting and audit support. President Energy PLC shall charge a fee based on 
time spent and a fee for financial system support with both subject to a markup of 10 per cent on all service 
charges. 
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26. Transactions with Directors and other related parties (continued) 
Company secretarial support agreement 
On 17 December 2021, the Company entered into a company secretarial support agreement with PLLG 
Investments Limited, a company whose ultimate beneficial shareholder is Peter Levine, to provide the services 
of Peter Levine in connection with ongoing professional support services and assistance in consideration for 
an annual charge of £37,500. The Company may terminate the agreement at any time by giving written notice. 

Standby Equity Facility Agreement 
On 17 December 2021 the Company, PLLG Investments Limited and Peter Levine entered into the Standby 
Equity Facility Agreement whereby PLLG Investments Limited agreed, conditional on Admission, to subscribe 
for up to 3,750,000 new Ordinary Shares at the Placing Price at the option of the Company for 18 months from 
Admission. Notice of exercise is conditional on it being the reasonable opinion of the Directors that such 
money is required to fund the working capital needs of the Company as set out in the working capital report 
prepared in connection with Admission and the subscription and allotment shall take place within 21 days of 
the Company serving notice. If the Company issues any Ordinary Shares following Admission other than in 
respect of options or warrants which are in issue on Admission, then the number of Ordinary Shares 
remaining for exercise under the Standby Equity Facility Agreement shall be reduced by a number of Ordinary 
Shares equal to the cash proceeds of the issue of new Ordinary Shares divided by 80p per Ordinary Share. 
PLLG Investments Limited's obligations under the agreement are guaranteed by Peter Levine. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 
continued
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2021  
ASSETS Note GBP000 

Non-current assets 
  
Investment in subsidiaries 4 1,003   
Property plant and equipment  

  1,003   

 
Current assets 
  
Debtors 5 4,708   
Cash at bank and in hand 1,369   

6,077   

ToTal asseTs 7,080   

 
lIaBIlITIes 
Non-current liabilities 
 
Creditors 6 – 

– 

 
Current liabilities 
  
Creditors 6 952   
Short term facility 7 955  

1,907   

Net assets 5,173   

 
eQUITY 
  
Called up share capital 8 65   
Share premium 5,689   
Retained earnings (642) 
Share Option Reserve 61   

Total equity attributable to the equity holders 5,173   

 

ATOME Energy PLC reported a loss for the period ended 31 December 2021 of GBP642,000. There were no 
other recognised gains and losses. 

These financial statements for ATOME Energy PLC (company number 13691713) were approved by the board 
of directors and authorised for issue on 26 May 2022. 

They were signed on its behalf by: 

Peter Levine 
Executive Chairman 
 
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET  
31 December 2021 
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Profit Share   
Share Share and loss based  

capital premium account reserve Total 
GBP000 GBP000 GBP000 GBP000 GBP000 

Balance at 21 October 2021 – –   –   – – 
 
Share-based payments   –   –    – 61 61  
Shares issued on reorganisation 50   –    –   – 50  
Offer of shares to public 15 5,985 6,000  
Costs of issue (296)   –    –  (296) 

Transactions with the owners 65 5,689   –  61 5,815  

 
Loss for the year   –    – (642)   – (642) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   –   –  (642)   – (642) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 65 5,689 (642) 61 5,173   

 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
31 December 2021 
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The following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement 
principles of Financial Reporting Standard 101 (Reduced Disclosure Framework). The accounts are prepared 
for the period 21 October 2021 to 31 December 2021. 

1. Significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies are summarised below. They have all been applied consistently throughout 
the year and the preceding year. 

Basis of accounting  
ATOME Energy PLC is a public company limited by shares and incorporated in England in the United 
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is given on page 52. The nature 
of the Company’s operations and its principal activities are set out in the Report of the Directors on pages 10 
to 11. 

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) 
issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting Standard 101) ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council.  

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis,. Historical cost is generally based on 
the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for the good and services. The principal accounting 
policies adopted are set out below. 

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that 
standard in relation to business combinations, share-based payment, non-current assets held for sale, financial 
instruments, capital management, and presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets, 
presentation of a cash-flow statement, standards not yet effective, impairment of assets and related party 
transactions. Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the group accounts of ATOME Energy PLC. 
The group accounts of ATOME Energy PLC are available to the public and can be obtained from the Company 
website as detailed on page 52. 

Investments 
Investments in subsidiaries are shown at cost, less provision for impairment. 

Group accounts 
These financial statements are separate financial statements for the Company and are included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the group accounts of ATOME Energy PLC.  

Adoption of new and revised Standards 
The Company has adopted all applicable IFRSs and Interpretations which have been endorsed by the UK and 
which are relevant to its operations and mandatory for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2021.  

Going concern 
The Company Financial Information has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the 
continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal 
course of business. The Directors have undertaken a review of the Company’s working capital requirements taking 
into account the net proceeds due from the share issue in December and Standby Equity Facility Agreement.  The 
Directors are of the opinion that the Company is sufficiently well funded to be able to operate as a going concern 
for the initial development phase of the business. 

Under the Standby Equity Facility Agreement, PLLG Investments Limited and Peter Levine, Non-Executive 
Chairman have agreed to subscribe for shares at the placing price at the option of the Company for 18 months 
from the AIM admission in December 2021. This makes an additional £3.0 million facility available to the Group. 

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS 
Period ended 31 December 2021 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS 
Period ended 31 December 2021 
continued 

1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Going concern (continued) 
The Directors continue to monitor cash forecasts closely and apply sensitivity analyses to manage liquidity 
risk effectively. Cashflow forecasts incorporate the projected settlement of the net current liabilities related to 
investment activity as detailed in the Strategic Report. In arriving at their view on going concern, reasonable 
downside sensitivities are considered under which scenarios the Group can elect not to proceed with 
discretionary expenditure to mitigate risks accordingly.   

The cash position at the year-end was GBP1.4 million with GBP4.5 million of net proceeds due under the share 
raise to be received in 2022 due to the late timing of the fund raise.  

Based on their review of cash forecasts and related sensitivity analysis the Directors believe that the Group will 
have available to it the financial resources to meet all commitments as they fall due. Further details of the Group’s 
commitments are set out in Note 21. The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company 
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements. 

Foreign Currency 
The financial statements are presented in Great British Pounds, which is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company operates (its functional currency).  

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of 
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are 
reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which they arise. 

Taxation 
Current tax 
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or 
recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets 
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting recognition of goodwill 
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be 
recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled, 
or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
Deferred tax (continued) 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited in 
other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income. The 
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 
in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

2. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
In order to prepare the financial statements in conformity with FRS 101, management of the Company have to 
make estimates and judgements. The matters described below are considered to be the most important in 
understanding the judgements that are involved in preparing these statements and the uncertainties that 
could impact the amounts reported in the results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

There are no judgements and uncertainties other than those highlighted in Note 3 in the Group report. 

3. Loss for the year 
As permitted by Section 408(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has elected not to present its own 
profit and loss account for the year. President Energy PLC reported a loss for the period ended 31 December 
2021 of GBP642,000.  

4. Investment in subsidiaries 
Place of Class of Percentage  
Incorporation Share Capital Held (1) Business 

Held Directly 
 
ATOME Limited UK Ordinary 100% Non trading 
 
Held Indirectly 
 
Green Fuel ehf Iceland Ordinary 75% Energy production 
ATOME Paraguay S.A Paraguay Ordinary 100% Energy production 

Address of registered office 
1. Carrwood Park, Selby Road, Leeds, West Yorkshire, England, LS15 4LG 
2. Dalshraun 3 / 220 Hafnarfjordur / Iceland 
3. WTC, Torre3, piso 15, oficina B, Asuncion, Paraguay 

Note (a):  All holdings are of ordinary shares and represent the proportion of the nominal value of the shares held. 

5. Debtors 
2021 

GBP000 

Outstanding on share issue 4,535   
Amounts owed by group undertakings 9  
Other receivables 52  
Prepayments 112   

4,708   

GBP4.5 million receivable for shares issued but not fully paid.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS 
Period ended 31 December 2021 
continued 

6. Creditors 
2021 

GBP000 

Current 
Trade payables 642   
Other payables 310   

Total carrying value of creditors 952   

7. Short term facility 

2021 
GBP000 

Current  
Loan 956    

Total carrying value of facility 956   

8. Share capital 
Equity share capital 

2021 
  ’000s 

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid  
Ordinary shares of par value .002p each 32,500   

 
2021 

GBP000 

Ordinary shares of par value .002p each 65 

65 

9. Related party transactions 
Details on related party transactions are provided in Note 26 in the ATOME Energy PLC consolidated 
accounts. 
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General and financial terms 
AIM                                        Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange 

Glossary  
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ATOME Energy PLC 
(Incorporated and Registered in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006  

with company number: 13691713) 

(the “Company”) 

Notice of Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) 
Notice is hereby given that the AGM of the Company will be held on 29 June 2022 at 11.00 a.m. at The Army 
& Navy Club, 36 Pall Mall, London, SW1Y 5JN 

In accordance with the Company's articles of association (the “articles”), voting will take place on a show of 
hands and, if the Company is of the view that this does not reflect the proxy votes, the Chair will direct voting 
to be by poll.  

The AGM will be held for the following purposes, namely: 

Ordinary business 
As ordinary business to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as 
ordinary resolutions: 

1 To receive and adopt the Company’s Financial Statements for the period ended 31 December 2021, together 
with the reports of the auditor and directors of the Company (“Directors”) thereon. 

2 To re-appoint Crowe U.K. LLP as auditor of the Company until the conclusion of the next AGM at which 
accounts for the Company are presented and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. 

3 To re-elect Peter Levine as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 20.2 of the 
Articles and offers himself for re-election. 

4 To re-elect Richard Day as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 20.2 of the 
Articles and offers himself for re-election. 

5 To re-elect Mary-Rose De Valladares as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 
20.2 of the Articles and offers herself for re-election. 

6 To re-elect Nikita Levine as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 20.2 of the 
Articles and offers himself for re-election. 

7 To re-elect Olivier Mussat as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 20.2 of the 
Articles and offers himself for re-election. 

8 To re-elect Robert Sheffrin as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 20.2 of the 
Articles and offers himself for re-election. 

9 To re-elect James Spalding as a Director of the Company, who retires in accordance with Article 20.2 of the 
Articles and offers himself for re-election. 

Special Business 
As special business to consider and if thought fit to pass the following resolutions of which the resolution 
numbered 10 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution and the resolution numbered 11 will be proposed as a 
special resolution. 

10 That authority be and is hereby granted to the Directors of the Company generally and unconditionally to 
allot shares in the capital of the Company or to grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into 
shares in the capital of the Company (“Rights”) pursuant to Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the 
“act”) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £32,500.00 (such amount equating to 50 per cent. of the 
aggregate nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this Notice) provided 
that this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the AGM of the Company to be held in 2023, save that 
the Company may make an offer or agreement before the expiry of this authority which would or might 

Notice of Annual General Meeting 
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require shares to be allotted or Rights to be granted after such expiry and the Directors may allot shares or 
grant Rights pursuant thereto as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired, such authority to be in 
substitution for any existing authorities conferred on the Directors pursuant to Section 551 of the Act. 

11 That the Directors be and they are hereby generally empowered pursuant to section 570 of the Act to allot 
equity securities (as defined in Section 560 of the Act) pursuant to the authority conferred by resolution 10 
above as if section 561(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be 
in substitution for any previous powers conferred on the Directors pursuant to Section 570 of the Act and 
shall be limited to: 

  (a) allotments made in connection with offers of equity securities to the holders of ordinary shares in 
proportion (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary shares held by them, but subject 
to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation 
to fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems under the laws of any overseas territory or the 
requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory; 

  (b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of further equity securities up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £32,500.00 (such amount equating to 50 per cent. of the aggregate 
nominal value of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this Notice) provided that this 
authority shall expire at the conclusion of the AGM of the Company to be held in 2023, save that the 
Company may make an offer or agreement before the expiry of this power which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities pursuant 
thereto as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired. 

BY THE ORDER OF THE BOARD 
 
 
Peter levine Registered office: 
Company secretary Carrwood Park 
31 May 2022 Selby Road 

Leeds LS15 4LG 

Notes 

Entitlement to attend, speak and vote 
1. Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (as amended), the Company has 

specified that only those members entered on the register of members at 6.30pm on 27 June 2022 (or in the 
event that this meeting is adjourned, on the register of members 48 hours excluding non-business days 
before the time of any adjourned meeting) shall be entitled to attend, speak and vote at the meeting in 
respect of the number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company held in their name at that time. 
Changes to the register after 6.30pm on 27 June 2022 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any 
person to attend, speak and vote at the meeting.  

Appointment of proxies 
2. Members are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to exercise all or any of their rights to attend, speak and 

vote at the meeting. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. A shareholder may appoint more 
than one proxy in relation to the AGM provided that each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached 
to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. Please see the instructions on the enclosed Form of 
Proxy. 

3. The completion and return of a Form of Proxy whether in hard copy form or in CREST will not preclude a 
member from attending in person at the meeting and voting should he or she wish to do so.  

Appointment of proxies using hardcopy proxy form 
4. Please indicate the proxy holder’s name and the number of shares in relation to which they are authorised 

to act as your proxy (which, in aggregate, should not exceed the number of shares held by you) in the boxes 
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indicated on the form. Please also indicate if the proxy instruction is one of multiple instructions being 
given. To appoint more than one proxy please see the instructions on the enclosed Form of Proxy. All forms 
must be signed and should be returned together in the same envelope. 

5. To be valid, the Form of Proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed 
or a certified copy of such power or authority must be lodged at the offices of the Company’s registrars, 
Freepost RTHJ-CLLL-KBKU, Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 
8LU by hand, or sent by post, so as to be received not less than 48 hours excluding non-business days before 
the time fixed for the holding of the meeting or any adjournment thereof (as the case may be). 

Appointment of proxies using CREST 
6. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST electronic proxy 

appointment service may do so for the meeting and any adjournment(s) of it by using the procedures 
described in the CREST Manual (available from www.euroclear.com). CREST Personal Members or other 
CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), 
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate 
action on their behalf. 

7. In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message 
(a ‘‘CREST Proxy Instruction’’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland 
Limited’s specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the 
CREST Manual. The message must be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (Equiniti 
Limited RA19) by 11.00am on 27 June 2022. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time 
(as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the 
issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. 

8. CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that 
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular 
messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST 
Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST 
member is a CREST Personal Member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), 
to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to 
ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this 
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are 
referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST 
system and timings. 

9. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 
35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 

Corporate representatives 
10. A corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise, on 

its behalf, all its powers as a member provided that no more than one corporate representative exercises 
powers over the same share. 
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